
 

REGULAR MEETING 

August 16, 2021 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

To comply with the request set forth by the Chairman of Dougherty County, GA and the 
guidelines of the Center for Disease Control (CDC) regarding the Coronavirus (COVID19) 
pandemic and social distancing, face coverings (masks) are required for all meeting participants. 

 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Christopher Cohilas. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Invocation. 

4. Pledge of Allegiance. 

5. Minutes. 

a. Consider for action the Minutes of the July 19th Regular Meeting and July 26th Work 
Session. 

6. Tax - Public Hearing. (Those wishing to speak for or against this item should sign the 
Sign Up sheet located on the table in the rear of the Chamber). 

a. Proposed tax increase of 0.35% for the County-Wide Digest and the proposed tax 
increase of 0.30% for the Special Services Digest.  The millage rates remain the same 
as last year.  The County-Wide millage rate is 15.569 and the Special Services millage 
rate is 9.1730. 

7. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

a. Tax Director Shonna Josey and Tax Collections Supervisor Kimberly Baylis present 
to update the Commission on the 2021 Delinquent Tax Sale. 

1



b. William Wright, dba Afram-Tech, Inc. present to continue discussion of building 
capacity, programs for small businesses, and other concerns.  

8. Zoning - Public Hearing. (Those wishing to speak on these matters should print their 
name on the Sign Up Sheet in the rear of the Chamber). 

a. Rupesh Rajkaran and Gupta Priyanka and Et. al, owner and Teramore Development, 
LLC, applicant requests to rezone 1.909 acres from C-7 (Mixed-Use Planned-
Development District) to C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business District). The property is 
located at the Southeast Corner of Gillionville and Lockett Station. The Planning 
Commission recommends approval.  Paul Forgey, Planning and Development 
Services Director and Angel Gray, Planning Manager, will address.   

b. Southland Cypress, LLC, owner and Brenda Clark, applicant request to rezone 62.538 
acres from AG (Agricultural District) to R-E (Estate District). The property address is 
512 Flowing Well Rd. The Planning Commission recommends approval.  Paul Forgey, 
Planning and Development Services Director and Angel Gray, Planning Manager, will 
address.   

c. Grady Blair Stone, owner and Metro Site, LLC applicant request Special Approval to 
construct a new telecommunications tower with a total overall height of facility 315’ in 
the C-3 (Commercial) District & C-8 (Commercial Recreation District). The property is 
approximately 20.82 acres and the property address is 2700 Liberty Expressway. The 
Planning Commission recommends approval.   

d. Proposed text amendment to the Dougherty County Solar Ordinance (TITLE III, 
ARTICLE 1. Section 1.44. III Definitions, VII. Specific Requirements for Solar Energy 
Systems (A)I, and VIII Solar Facilities (E)). The Planning Commission recommends 
approval.  Paul Forgey, Planning and Development Services Director and Angel Gray, 
Planning Manager, will address.   

9. Purchases. 

a. Consider for the action the acceptance of the proposal for Professional Services for 
the Survey and Design of Fleming Road Widening Phase III for the Public Works 
Department from the lowest quoted vendor, Reliable Engineering, LLC (Albany, GA) 
in the amount $69,000.  Funding is budgeted in T-SPLOST Road Projects.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the purchase of twenty (20) sirens for use by the Dougherty County 
Emergency Management Agency from the most responsive and responsible proposer, 
Sirens for Cities, Inc. (Jonesboro, GA) in the amount of $519,892.40.  Funding is 
budgeted in the Hazardous Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) for $750,000. ACTION: 

10. Additional Business. 

a. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the approval of the 2021 Millage Rates 
for the County-Wide General Fund, Special Services District Fund, Dougherty County 
School System and State of Georgia.  ACTION: 

  

2



b. Recommendation to accept the five year update to the 2026 Albany-Dougherty 
Comprehensive Plan.  Paul Forgey, Planning and Development Services Director is 
present to address.  Action on this item is scheduled for a Special Called Meeting 
on August 30, 2021. 

c. Consider for action the Zoning Consideration of Rupesh Rajkaran and Gupta Priyanka 
and Et. al, owner and Teramore Development, LLC, applicant requests to rezone 
1.909 acres from C-7 (Mixed-Use Planned-Development District) to C-2 (General 
Mixed-Use Business District). The property is located at the Southeast Corner of 
Gillionville and Lockett Station. The Planning Commission recommends 
approval.  ACTION: 

d. Consider for action the Zoning Consideration of Southland Cypress, LLC, owner 
and Brenda Clark, applicant request to rezone 62.538 acres from AG (Agricultural 
District) to R-E (Estate District). The property address is 512 Flowing Well Rd. The 
Planning Commission recommends approval. ACTION: 

e. Consider for action the Zoning Consideration of Grady Blair Stone, owner and Metro 
Site, LLC applicant request Special Approval to construct a new telecommunications 
tower with a total overall height of facility 315’ in the C-3 (Commercial) District & C-8 
(Commercial Recreation District). The property is approximately 20.82 acres and the 
property address is 2700 Liberty Expressway. The Planning Commission 
recommends approval.  ACTION: 

f. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the amendment of the Dougherty 
County Solar Ordinance (TITLE III, ARTICLE 1. Section 1.44. III Definitions, VII. 
Specific Requirements for Solar Energy Systems (A)I, and VIII Solar Facilities (E)). 
The Planning Commission recommends approval.  ACTION: 

g. Consider for action the authorization of an incentive payment of $300 for each fully 
vaccinated employee.  Proof of vaccination will be required.  Funding is available 
through ARPA as this is an eligible expense and addresses the spread of COVID-
19. County Administrator Michael McCoy will address.  HR Director Dominique Hall is 
present.  ACTION: 

h. Consider for action the Resolution providing for a moratorium on wind energy 
generation facilities, otherwise known as wind farms.  The purpose would be to 
temporarily restrict their development within the unincorporated county until a study 
can be conducted and an ordinance developed to regulate the placement of such 
facilities appropriately.  Paul Forgey, Planning and Development Services Director 
and County Attorney Spencer Lee will address.  ACTION:      

11. Updates from the County Administrator. 

a. REMINDER- Due to five (5) Mondays in August, there will be no meeting next Monday, 
August 23, 2021. 

12. Updates from the County Attorney. 

13. Updates from the County Commission. 

3



14. Adjourn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of 
the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 
promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

4



 

 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

July 19, 2021 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty 

Government Center on July 19, 2021.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas presided.  

Commissioners present were Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson, 

Anthony Jones, and Ed Newsome.  Also present were County Administrator  

Michael McCoy, Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison, County Attorney  

Spencer Lee, Deputy County Clerk Bristeria Hope, and other staff.  The public and 

representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting on 

the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel. 

 

After the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance, the Chairman called for approval of the 

June 21st Regular Meeting and June 28th Special Called Meeting minutes. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the 

minutes were unanimously approved. 

 

The Chairman recognized Tax Director Shonna Josey and Chief Appraiser  

Joseph McPherson to discuss the Certified 2021 Tax Digest for the Countywide M&O and 

Special Services District.  Mrs. Josey shared that the Countywide M&O is based on the 2020 

millage rate of 15.569.  The net M&O digest assessed value is $2,011,965,474 with the total 

taxes levied plus PILOT at $33,619,058.  The total amount for the Forest Land Protection 

(FLPA) and PILOT are $2,294,769.  The 2021 total gross digest are $2,242,068,315 with a 

1.33% change.  The total net M&O had a total change of 0.34%.  The parcel count is 37,820.  

The timeline for the process and advertising was shared.   

 

Mrs. Josey discussed the Special Services District Tax Digest summary and stated that it is 

based on the 2020 millage rate of 9.173.  The net digest assessed value is $562,208,730 with 

the total taxes levied plus PILOT at $5,894,773.  The total amount for the FLPA & PILOT 

is $570,806.  The 2021 total gross digest is $662,153,910 with a 3.97% change.  The total 

net M&O had a total change of 2.67%.  The parcel count is 9,322.  The Chairman gathered 

consensus that from the Commission to maintain the millage rate at the 15.569 rates for the 

Countywide M&O and 9.173 for the Special Service District.  Commissioner Gaines asked 

Mrs. Josey to send her the presentation so that she could clarify that there would be a greater 

impact on the Special Services District. 

 

The Chairman recognized William Wright, representative of AFRAM Tech, Inc. who spoke 

on behalf of his concern with line item 9d on the agenda referencing the amendment of the 

budget. 

 

5

Item 5a.



The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the execution and 

acceptance of the contract to install Playground Equipment at Radium Overlook Park for the 

Public Works Department from the lowest quoted vendor, GameTime (Longwood, Fl) in the 

amount of $26,960.04 subject to execution by the County Administrator.  Funding is budgeted 

in SPLOST VII – County Parks Improvement/Equipment. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-038 is entitled:  

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT BETWEEN DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY, GEORGIA AND GAMETIME IN THE AMOUNT OF 

$26,960.04 FOR THE PURPOSE OF INSTALLING PLAYGROUND 

EQUIPMENT AT RADIUM OVERLOOK PARK; REPEALING 

RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the board appointments. 

 

Upon nomination by Commissioner Johnson, incumbents  

Thelma Adams-Johnson and Larry Thomas were unanimously reappointed 

to the Albany/ Dougherty Land Bank for a two-year term ending July 31, 

2023.  

Upon nomination by Commissioner Gaines, incumbent Dr. Eugene Sherman 

was unanimously reappointed to the ASPIRE Behavioral Health & 

Developmental Disability Services Board for a three-year term ending  

June 30, 2024.   

Upon nomination by Commissioner Jones, incumbent Dr. Carolyn Hand was 

unanimously reappointed to the Department of Family & Children Services 

for a five-year term ending June 30, 2026.   

Upon nomination by Commissioner Johnson, incumbents Commissioner 

Clinton Johnson and Chris Hatcher were unanimously reappointed to the 

Economic Development Commission for a two-year term ending  

June 30, 2023.  [Commissioner Johnson will serve as the appointee of the 

Chairman]. 

Upon nomination by Commissioner Gray, applicant George Anderson was 

unanimously appointed to the Tax Assessors for an unexpired three-year term 

ending December 31, 2021.    

6

Item 5a.



Attorney Lee addressed and said that there is a resolution attached to the Tax Assessors 

appointment.  Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner 

Newsome, the motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-039 is entitled: 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE 

APPOINTMENT OF A MEMBER OF THE 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF TAX 

ASSESSORS TO POST 5 FOR AN UNEXPIRED 

TERM BEGINNING JULY 19, 2021 AND ENDING 

DECEMBER 31, 2023; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS 

OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT 

HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution declaring the listed vehicles and 

equipment as surplus and authorizing the sale of same via an online auction.   

Commissioner Newsome moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Jones, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-040 is entitled:  

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE 

ATTACHED LIST OF EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES; 

PROVIDING FOR DISPOSAL OF OR SALE OF SAME VIA 

AN ONLINE AUCTION; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS 

IN CONFLICT; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to approve the resolution declaring the listed 

equipment as surplus and authorize the disposal of same.  This is a listing of equipment 

damaged by water in the Judicial Building for the Sheriff's Office. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-041 is entitled:  

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE 

ATTACHED LIST OF EQUIPMENT 

PROVIDING FOR DISPOSAL OF SAME 

REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS 

IN CONFLICT; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

7

Item 5a.



 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for acceptance of the annual 

Cooperative Agreement with Turner Job Corps Center and Dougherty County outlining the 

assistance of the Dougherty County Police Department in performing law enforcement duties. 

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Jones, the motion 

for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-042 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF AN ANNUAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA AND TURNER JOB 

CORPS CENTER OUTLINING THE ASSISTANCE OF THE 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT IN PERFORMING 

LAW ENFORCEMENT DUTIES AT THE TURNER JOB CORPS CENTER 

LOCATION; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF 

RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the recommendation from the Finance Committee to 

amend the FY 2022 Budget for the General Fund from $56,087,366 to $58,971,080 and to 

amend the FY 2022 Budget for the Special Services District from $8,192,540 to $8,598,902.  

County Administrator Michael McCoy addressed.  Mr. McCoy said that this was a good 

decision to address on behalf of the “hard-to-fill” positions that deal with life, safety and critical 

roles within Dougherty County.  He added that premium pay and the pay class study will be 

forthcoming and stressed that the initial increase is only for public safety.   Mr. McCoy said that 

the modified timeframe of the lump-sum distribution will be done in August 2021.  Chairman 

Cohilas corrected information from an earlier discussion of the tax digest and said that 

Commissioner Gaines was correct in referring to a greater impact in the Special Services 

District. 

 

Commissioner Newsome moved for approval.  Commissioner Gray seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Commissioner Jones said that he was excited about implementing the 

increase for the employees and hope to continue to provide increases.  He suggested that he 

would like to see a plan formulated to assist employees in receiving regular increases.  The 

motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Gaines asked Mr. McCoy to provide a full briefing of the American Rescue Plan 

(ARP) to the Commission. Mr. McCoy said that ACCG will be providing training and extended 

the offer to the Commission to participate.  The Chairman asked Mr. McCoy to forward that 

information to the Commission. Mr. McCoy reiterated that he will come with a proposed 

spending project plan and utilization at end of the first quarter of the fiscal year, near the end of 

September.  Commissioner Gaines also mentioned that the COVID rates are decreasing and 

vaccinations are steadily increasing based on the percentages she analyzed.  

 

8

Item 5a.



Commissioner Newsome provided his appreciation to the Commissioners for helping him 

during his first budget cycle and looks forward to progressing more. 

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

11:20 a.m. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

9

Item 5a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

July 26, 2021 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on July 26, 2021.  Vice-Chairman Victor Edwards presided and called the meeting to order 

at 10:00 am.  Commissioners present were Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson,  

Anthony Jones, and Ed Newsome.  Also present were County Administrator Michael McCoy, 

Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison, County Attorney Spencer Lee, County Clerk  

Jawahn Ware, and other staff.  The public and representatives of the media participated in person, 

via live streaming of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access 

channel.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas was absent. 

 

The Vice-Chairman asked Commissioner Jones to provide a word of prayer and asked the 

Commission to review the minutes of the July 12th Work Session Meeting.  

 

The Vice-Chairman recognized Senator Freddie Powell Sims to provide opening remarks.   

She introduced Frank Sheppard, President & CEO, Cheryl Maddox, Albany Site Manager and 

Shelby Williams, Business Manager from Feeding the Valley Food Bank who discussed the needs 

and grant opportunities available for the Local Food Bank.  It was shared that Dougherty County 

is ranked #2 in the state for food-insecure persons.  Site expansion plans were shared.  Mr. McCoy 

introduced Tommy Lowmon, EDFP Director, Office of Community Development, Georgia 

Department of Community Affairs who discussed the possible use of the Department of 

Community Affairs FY 2022 Community Development Block Grant- COVID (CDBG-CV) funds 

to expand local food bank services in Dougherty County and surrounding areas.  He mentioned 

that funds are provided by Congress through the CARES ACT.  He added that the local food bank 

is responsible for 25% of the grant match and shared that funds have been secured.  EDC Director 

Jana Dyke was available to also discuss grant opportunities. 

 

The Vice-Chairman recognized Director of Planning and Development Services Paul Forgey and 

County Attorney Spencer Lee to update the Commission on citizen concerns regarding businesses 

located on Poinciana Ave.  Attorney Lee shared that local and state regulations are being met and 

Mr. Forgey thanked citizen Paul Murray for bringing this concern to the Commission's attention.  

Mr. Forgey said that the business owner cooperated and when she started the business, the County 

had a different regulation.  Vice-Chairman Edwards asked that the business license state the type 

of business an individual has to prevent having this type of “slip up” again.  Upon the question of 

Commissioner Jones, Attorney Lee was not in favor of revisiting the ordinance because the 

presented concerns were addressed and activities inside the business are governed by the state.  

Mr. Forgey shared that all the ordinances can be made better but in this case for the training 

concern, a neighbor would have to report the issue.  Many areas have asked for a copy of our 

ordinance and Mr. Forgey believes it is in good order.  Mr. Murray thanked the Commission and 

presented other concerns.  Commissioner Gaines directed him to speak to his state representative 

and stated that the Board has exhausted all of our efforts to resolve concerns.   

 

10

Item 5a.



The Vice-Chairman recognized William Wright, dba Afram-Tech, Inc. to continue the discussion 

of building capacity, programs for small businesses, and other concerns.  He shared information 

pertaining to the high per capita cost of Dougherty County as compared to Chatham County.  He 

also spoke about concerns about the Coroner’s office.  He requested to speak to the Commission 

on August 9th, 16th, and 23rd.  

 

The Vice-Chairman recognized Coach Jessie Massey to provide an update on the 46th year of the 

Albany State Youth Enrichment Program noting that there was a recent program name change.  He 

thanked the Commission for the recent donation.  Tokens of appreciation were provided to the 

Board. 

 

The Vice-Chairman called for a discussion to accept the quote to install new cameras at Turtle 

Grove & Riverfront Parks for the Public Works Department from single-source vendor Invision 

Technologies (Albany, GA) in the amount of $22,110.  Funding is budgeted in  

SPLOST VII – County Parks Improvement/Equipment.  Assistant County Administrator  

Scott Addison addressed.  Public Works Engineer Jeremy Brown was present.  Mr. Addison said 

that the system will tie into the existing one and protect the County’s investment.  

 

The Vice-Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to purchase one 2021 Hyundai 

Santa Fe SEL for the GBI Southwestern Regional Drug Enforcement Office from Albany Chrysler 

Dodge Jeep Ram-Hyundai (Albany, GA) for a not to exceed the amount of $32,093.  Funding will 

be provided by the GBI SWRDEO Grant Fund.  Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison 

addressed.  Eric Schwalls, GBI Special Agent In Charge was present.  Mr. Addison said that this 

was a grant purchase that has been approved by GBI’s controlling Board.  However, the County 

has to give the authorization to proceed. 

 

The Vice-Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to accept the 2020-2025 Hazard 

Mitigation Plan.  Fire Chief/EMA Director Cedric D. Scott addressed.  Chief Scott said that the 

plan required an update every five years and required every county and municipality to receive 

federal funding.  Mr. McCoy stated that these documents allowed the County to continue being 

eligible for FEMA reimbursements.   

 

The Vice-Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to review and discuss a 

proposed Resolution providing for the use of the services of the Southwest Georgia Regional 

Commission for the purpose of preparing, submitting, and administering a FY 2022 Community 

Development Block Grant-COVID (CDBG-CV) Food Bank application to the State of Georgia 

Department of Community Affairs.  County Administrator Michael McCoy, SW Georgia Regional 

Commission Executive Director Suzanne Angell, Deputy Director Barbara Reddick, and Grants 

Administrator Brenda Wade addressed.  Mr. McCoy provided an update on the meeting held for 

the application process.  There is no Dougherty County staff available for management and it was 

recommended to partner with the SWGA Regional Commission.  Ms. Angell shared that her team 

is prepared to move forward.  She added that there is no cost for the application but there is funding 

available for grant administration.  Mr. McCoy shared that future documents will need approval.  

 

The Vice-Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to amend the FY 2021 General 

Fund Budget from $53,664,296 to $55,258,686 for various grants.  It was also recommended to 

11

Item 5a.



amend the Grants Fund from $1,980,748 to $2,038,756 to show the HEROS Grant and to create 

the Alternate Dispute Resolution Fund as requested by Superior Court Judge, Willie Lockette.  

County Administrator Michael McCoy and Finance Director Martha Hendley addressed.   

Mr. McCoy said that this request is administrative housekeeping because additional grants were 

received in the last FY budget.  Mrs. Hendley also addressed questions from the Commission.   

 

Commissioner Edwards asked Attorney Lee about the legality of businesses not allowing the 

public to use the restroom.  Attorney Lee will take it under advisement and provide information 

later.  Commissioner Johnson asked for clarification on the staffing ratio at the jail.  Commissioner 

Gray provided comments.  Mr. McCoy also noted that language was included in layman's terms 

to explain that the Board was not proposing a tax increase and language was published in the 

newspaper.  Commissioner Jones recognized Commissioner Johnson for his appointment on the 

Department of Community Affairs Board.  Commissioner Edwards recognized his campaign 

manager Captain Edward Lemon Jr. 

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

12:20 p.m. 

 
 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

12

Item 5a.



2021 Delinquent Tax Sale 
292 Properties 

taken  to Aug. 
3rd tax sale.

231 City parcels                      
111  sold
61 County parcels       
30  sold

CITY COUNTY TOTAL 

TAXES $245,163.48 $83,224.68 $328,388.16

BIDS $897,305.20 $288,364.30 $1,185,669.50

EXCESS $652,141.72 $205,139.62 $857,281.34

13

Item 7a.



 

P L A N N I N G  &  D E V E L O P M E N T  S E R V I C E S  
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: August 5, 2021 
 
To: The Board of County Commissioners 
 
From: Albany Dougherty Planning Commission 
 
Subject: #21-034 Zoning (Southeast Corner of Gillionville and Locket Station) 

 
Teramore Development, LLC (21-034) has submitted an application on behalf of the 
owners to the Albany Dougherty Planning Commission requesting that the Official Zoning 
Map of Dougherty County be amended to rezone 1.909 acres from C-7 (Mixed-Use 
Planned-Development District) to C-2 (General Mixed-Use Business District). The 
property is located at the Southeast Corner of Gillionville and Lockett Station. The 
property owner is the RUPESH RAJKARAN & GUPTA PRIYANKA & ETAL; the applicant is 
Teramore Development, LLC. (WARD 5) 
 
 
Jimmy Hall offered a motion to recommend approval for the request to rezone 1.909 
acres from C-7 to C-2; seconded by Art Brown; the motion carried 9-0 with the 
following votes:  
 
William Geer   Tie or Quorum 
Billy Merritt   Yes 
Art Brown   Yes 
Jimmy Hall   Yes 
Sanford Hillsman  Yes 
Yvonne Jackson  Yes 
Aaron Johnson  Yes 
Charles Ochie  Yes 
Helen Young   Yes 
Heath Fountain   Yes 
 
 
 

14

Item 8a.



15

Item 8a.



16

Item 8a.



17

Item 8a.



18

Item 8a.



19

Item 8a.



20

Item 8a.



21

Item 8a.



22

Item 8a.



23

Item 8a.



24

Item 8a.



25

Item 8a.



26

Item 8a.



27

Item 8a.



28

Item 8a.



29

Item 8a.



30

Item 8a.



31

Item 8a.



32

Item 8a.



33

Item 8a.



34

Item 8a.



 

P L A N N I N G  &  D E V E L O P M E N T  S E R V I C E S  
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: August 5, 2021 
 
To: The Board of County Commissioners 
 
From: Albany Dougherty Planning Commission 
 
Subject: #21-035 Zoning (512 Flowing Well Road) 

 
Brenda Clark (21-035) has submitted an application to the Albany Dougherty Planning 
Commission requesting that the Official Zoning Map of Dougherty County be amended 
to rezone 62.538 acres from AG (Agricultural District) to R-G (Single-Family Residential 
District County Only). The property address is 512 Flowing Well Rd. The property owner 
is Southland Cypress, LLC; the applicant is Brenda Clark. (District 1) 
 
Helen Young offered a motion to approve the request to rezone 62.538 acres from AG to 
R-E as recommended by staff; seconded by Yvonne Jackson; the motion carried 6-0 with 
the following votes: 
 
 
William Geer   Tie or Quorum 
Billy Merritt   Yes 
Art Brown   Yes 
Jimmy Hall   Yes 
Sanford Hillsman  Absent 
Yvonne Jackson  Yes 
Aaron Johnson  Absent 
Charles Ochie  Absent 
Helen Young   Yes 
Heath Fountain   Yes 
 
 
 
 

35

Item 8b.



36

Item 8b.



37

Item 8b.



38

Item 8b.



39

Item 8b.



40

Item 8b.



41

Item 8b.



42

Item 8b.



43

Item 8b.



44

Item 8b.



45

Item 8b.



 

P L A N N I N G  &  D E V E L O P M E N T  S E R V I C E S  
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: August 5, 2021 
 
To: The Board of County Commissioners 
 
From: Albany Dougherty Planning Commission 
 
Subject: #21-036 Zoning (2700 Liberty Expressway) 

 
Metro Site, LLC (21-036) has submitted an application to the Albany Dougherty 
Planning Commission requesting Special Approval to construct a new 
telecommunications tower with a total overall height of facility 315’ in the C-3 
(Commercial) District & C-8 (Commercial Recreation District). The property is 
approximately 20.82 acres, and the property address is 2700 Liberty Expressway. The 
property owner is Grady Blair Stone; the applicant is Metro Site, LLC. (District 6) 
 
Art Brown offered a motion to recommend approval for the Special Approval to 
construct a new telecommunications tower with a total overall height of facility 315’ in 
the C-3 & C-8; seconded by Jimmy Hall; the motion carried 6-0 with the following 
votes:  
 
William Geer   Tie or Quorum 
Billy Merritt   Yes 
Art Brown   Yes 
Jimmy Hall   Yes 
Sanford Hillsman  Absent 
Yvonne Jackson  Yes 
Aaron Johnson  Absent 
Charles Ochie  Absent 
Helen Young   Yes 
Heath Fountain   Yes 
 
 
 
 

46

Item 8c.



47

Item 8c.



48

Item 8c.



49

Item 8c.



50

Item 8c.



51

Item 8c.



52

Item 8c.



53

Item 8c.



54

Item 8c.



55

Item 8c.



56

Item 8c.



57

Item 8c.



58

Item 8c.



59

Item 8c.



60

Item 8c.



61

Item 8c.



62

Item 8c.



63

Item 8c.



64

Item 8c.



65

Item 8c.



66

Item 8c.



67

Item 8c.



68

Item 8c.



69

Item 8c.



70

Item 8c.



71

Item 8c.



72

Item 8c.



73

Item 8c.



 

P L A N N I N G  &  D E V E L O P M E N T  S E R V I C E S  
 

P.O. Box 447 Albany, GA 31702 | Phone: 229.438.3901 | Fax: 229.438.3965 | www.albanyga.gov 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: August 5, 2021 
 
To: The Board of County Commissioners 
 
From: Albany Dougherty Planning Commission 
 
Subject: #21-037 Dougherty County Solar Ordinance Revision 

 
21-037 Dougherty County Solar Ordinance: recommendation of revisions to the 
Dougherty County Solar Ordinance (TITLE III, ARTICLE 1. Section 1.44. VII. Specific 
Requirements for Solar Energy Systems (A) i). The Planning Commissioners will decide 
whether or not to recommend the presented revisions to the Dougherty County Board 
of Commissioners.   
 

Billy Merritt offered a motion to approve staff recommendations for changes to the 

Solar Ordinance and be forwarded to the County Commission. Suggested changes 

are: 

• Minor edits 

• Allowing panels on street-facing roofs (permitted in City) 

• Allow fencing to be 6 feet with barbed wire (meets electrical code) 

The motion was seconded by Art Brown; the motion carried 6-0 with the following 
votes:  
 
William Geer   Tie or Quorum 
Billy Merritt   Yes 
Art Brown   Yes 
Jimmy Hall   Yes 
Sanford Hillsman  Absent 
Yvonne Jackson  Yes 
Aaron Johnson  Absent 
Charles Ochie  Absent 
Helen Young   Yes 
Heath Fountain   Yes 
 
 

74

Item 8d.



75

Item 8d.



76

Item 8d.



77

Item 8d.



78

Item 8d.



79

Item 8d.



80

Item 8d.



81

Item 8d.



82

Item 8d.



83

Item 8d.



84

Item 8d.



85

Item 9a.



86

Item 9a.



87

Item 9a.



88

Item 9b.



89

Item 9b.



90

Item 9b.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION ASSESSING THE RATE OF TAXATION FOR COUNTY PURPOSES ON ALL 

TAXABLE PROPERTY IN DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA AND ON ALL TAXABLE 

PROPERTY IN THE SPECIAL SERVICES DISTRICT OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

FOR 2021; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby desirous of 

assessing the rate of taxation for County purposes on all taxable property in Dougherty County and on all 

taxable property in the Special Services District of Dougherty County for the year 2021. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 

  

 SECTION I  18.986 mills on the dollar or $18.986 on the thousand is hereby fixed as the rate of 

taxation for County General Fund purposes for the year 2021 with this rate of taxation being reduced by 

the equivalent millage of 3.417 mills on the dollar or $3.417 on the thousand through funds received from 

the Local Option Sales Tax in calendar year 2020 leaving a net tax of 15.569 mills on the dollar or 

$15.569 on the thousand levied or fixed as the rate of taxation for County General Fund purposes on all 

taxable property in Dougherty County for the year 2021. 

 

 SECTION II  A net tax of 9.173 mills on the dollar or $9.173 on the thousand is hereby levied 

on all taxable property in the Special Services District of Dougherty County, Georgia. 

 

 SECTION III  A net tax of 18.154 mills on the dollar or $18.154 on the thousand is hereby 

levied  as the annual equivalent mill rate to be paid and distributed for maintenance and operation of the 

Dougherty County School System. 

 

 SECTION IV  A net tax of 0.00 mills on the dollar or $0.00 on the thousand is hereby levied for 

State of Georgia purposes as prescribed by law. 

 

 SECTION V  The County Clerk is hereby requested to have this Resolution entered into the 

Minutes of the Board of Commissioners with a copy to be furnished to the Dougherty County Tax 

Director, to the Dougherty County School System and to the Revenue Commissioner of the State of 

Georgia and that the same be advertised if required by law. 

 

 SECTION VI  All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

 This the 16th day of August, 2021. 

 

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

       BY:__________________________________ 

              Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST: __________________________ 

 

 

ADOPTED: ________________________ 

91

Item 10a.



92

Item 10a.



 
1  August 9, 2021 
 

2021 Five-Year Update of the 
2026 Albany-Dougherty Comprehensive Plan 

Developing the Five-Year Update 

In 2016, the City of Albany, in conjunction with Dougherty County, adopted the 
Albany-Dougherty Comprehensive Plan 2026 to communicate our community’s long-
range planning needs for the next ten years and beyond. Each local government in 
Georgia is required to develop and maintain a Comprehensive Plan according to the 
Georgia Planning Act and as a requirement to maintain a Qualified Local Government 
(QLG) status. 

At the midpoint of this ten-year plan, part of maintaining the plan is for each 
government to complete a five-year update. This update includes a Report of 
Accomplishments (ROA) toward fulfilling the previous five-year Community Work 
Program (CWP) and developing a new CWP for the remainder of the ten-year plan. 

City and County staff have been working with the Southwest Georgia Regional 
Commission (SWGRC) to develop this 2016-2020 ROA and CWP 2021-2026 for this 
scheduled plan update. According to state regulations, this must be adopted by both 
governments before October 31, 2021. 

The first of two required public hearings were conducted on June 24 to make the 
public aware that a plan update was taking place and providing an opportunity to 
comment. The hearing was live-streamed, and a recording was available for viewing. A 
second public hearing is set for August 23, 2021, at 5:30 p.m. in Room 100, 222 Pine 
Ave., Albany, GA. This second public hearing is required before a vote to submit the 
draft plan for review and approval by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
(DCA). The second hearing also will be live-streamed and recorded, as well. 

Before adopting this five-year update, the local government must submit a draft plan 
to the SWGRC and the DCA for review and approval. Once approved by DCA, the Five-
Year Update must be officially adopted by both the City and County prior to October 
31, 2021, for both governments to maintain QLG status. 

In addition to the ROA and a new CWP, other parts of this update include a new 
Broadband element, an updated Needs and Opportunities section, and land use plans 
for possible changes. Both the Regional Water Plan covering our area and the Rules 
for Environmental Planning Criteria (O.C.G.A. 12-2-8) were reviewed and considered in 

93

Item 10b.



 
2  August 9, 2021 
 

formulating the plan update. 

Several natural disasters and the Coronavirus pandemic have heightened the City and 
County’s focus on many community-based goals, needs, and opportunities identified in 
the 2016 Plan. Both governments recognized the need to develop focused plans to 
respond to these events. 

The governments worked jointly to develop the 2017 Dougherty County-City of Albany, 
GA Long-Term Recovery Plan and a Dougherty County Hazard Mitigation Plan Update 
2020-2025. These plans identify specific action steps and projects to respond to storm 
recovery and future disaster mitigation needs. Dougherty County also developed a plan 
to address disaster recovery for Radium Springs and Putney areas. Both governments 
have undertaken several disaster-recovery projects during the intervening years and 
continue to seek grant funding to further local disaster recovery. 

Regarding flood mitigation and water quality issues: the City of Albany has conducted 
engineering studies to consider solutions to separate the remaining sections of 
Combined Sewer Outfall stormwater drainage to meet the City’s National Pollutant 
requirements Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits. A five-year plan was 
adopted to complete the necessary system upgrades. 

Since 2017, storm recovery activities have resulted in the postponement of many land 
use studies and other projects due to time and fiscal constraints. Likewise, the 
Coronavirus Pandemic has delayed or postponed the implementation of many CWP 
projects due to time and fiscal restraints, as well as construction and supply line 
delays. 

Developing the 2026 Comprehensive Plan 

A comprehensive plan outlines community goals and objectives and how the 
government proposes to achieve those goals and objectives. It is organized around a 
policy framework that is used to guide the growth and development of the community. 
The Plan is intended to inform local decision-making on a daily basis. The document 
includes analysis and recommendations on each of the following topics: population, 
natural and cultural resources, community facilities and services, economic 
development, housing, transportation, and land use. 

The first step in building the Plan is preparing a vision statement for Albany- 
Dougherty County. The vision is supported by a series of goals and policies organized 
around various planning elements, including economic development, natural and 

94

Item 10b.



 
3  August 9, 2021 
 

cultural resources, community facilities and services, economic development, housing, 
transportation, and land use. In 2018, the state introduced the requirement for a 
Broadband plan. 

A series of public workshops were used in the preparation of the vision, goals, and 
policies. These serve to guide the future direction for the city and county and their 
inhabitants. Recommendations for Albany-Dougherty County’s development are based 
on the citizens’ vision of what they would like the community to look like in the future. 
The Plan relied heavily on public involvement through public hearings, focus groups, 
community surveys, and steering committee meetings. The Albany-Dougherty County 
2016-2035 Comprehensive Plan steering committee was formed from various 
department heads, business owners, residents and at least one elected official, as 
required by the state’s Rules for Comprehensive Planning. 

95

Item 10b.



NEEDS AND OPPORTUNITIES 2021 UPDATE 
Community Facilities  

▪ Better recreational facilities/parks: repair of those damaged by storms or 

neglected; facilities particularly for the elderly and the disabled 

▪ Additional shelters for battered women, homeless, etc. 

▪ Fix combined storm/sewer problems 

▪ Continue to bring variety of entertainment to Civic Center and Municipal 

Auditorium  

 

Economic Development  

▪ Promote African American/Civil Rights history city-wide for tourism  

▪ Additional marketing efforts to promote tourism and relocation to Albany and 

Dougherty County 

▪ Complete the Flint River Trail system 

▪ Promote Agri-Tourism 

▪ More effort on business retention and expansion  

▪ Continue improvements at the Albany Regional Airport and promote throughout 

region 

▪ Downtown revitalization and residential development within walking distance 

▪ Need better skilled workers-connect citizens to job training programs 

▪ Need more businesses catering to students around ASU campuses 

 

Housing  

▪ More housing opportunities especially for low/moderate income and senior 

citizens 

▪ Increase the homeownership rate  

▪ Revitalize housing within walking distance of downtown 

▪ Need additional resources to address rental rehabilitation 

▪ Neighborhood stabilization through DCED and the Land Bank 

▪ Concentrate on infill housing in the older parts of the City 

▪ Education opportunities for landlords/tenants 

Transportation  

▪ Need to consider additional routes for transit, also better bus stops 

▪ Build sidewalks along major pedestrian routes 

 

Land Use  

▪ Significant opportunity for infill 

96

Item 10b.



▪ Increased utilization of Riverfront, on both sides of Flint River  

▪ Build on Agri-tourism uses permitted in County 

▪ Focus revitalization and cleanup efforts on major gateways into City  

▪ Identify and prioritize areas of concern and develop strategic plans to address 

needs 

▪ Do not allow commercial encroachment into stable residential neighborhoods 

▪ Update zoning ordinance to incorporate all amendments and revise to make 

more user-friendly 

 

 

 

97

Item 10b.



 
 

BROADBAND ELEMENT 

Broadband is the latest technology infrastructure that delivers high-speed internet 
connectivity to access the World Wide Web. This technology is a vital resource that 
increases citizens’ equitable access to employment opportunities, education training, 
businesses, healthcare, homes, and other uses for good quality of life and well-being. 
Low- to moderate-income households often have less broadband access than their 
wealthier counterparts, creating a digital divide that limits personal and professional 
opportunities for low-income households (Albany’s Five-Year Consolidated Plan 2021-
2025). 

In 2015, the FCC defined broadband as internet access with download speeds of 25 
Megabits per second (Mbps) and upload speeds of 3 Mbps (otherwise notated as 25/3). 
With broadband access, internet users can partake in file downloading, video streaming, 
email, and other critical features that are necessary for modern communications. The 
intrusion of COVID-19 has unfolded the importance of internet connectivity and 
accessibility as schools, healthcare, businesses, and individuals practice social distancing 
and transitioned to virtual. In areas that are underserved or unserved, it is a great 
challenge to transition into the new means of communication as they lack a reliable 
high-speed connection. 

The 2019 Broadband Deployment Initiative data published by the Georgia Department 
of Community Affairs (DCA) show Albany’s broadband coverage at the census block 
level. According to the broadband report released by the Georgia Department of 
Community Affairs 2020, a census block is considered “served” with broadband if at 
least 80% of the locations within the census block have broadband service.  

Several areas of the city are shown to be “unserved”, including most areas adjacent to 
the Flint River. The largest shares of low-income residents in Albany also live in those 
unserved areas closest to the river. In Albany’s historic district, areas with industrial and 
other non-residential uses also tend to be “unserved”, such as W. Roosevelt Ave. Other 
areas include south of W. Gordon Ave., Newton Road, and the industrial area south of 
Gillionville Road immediately west of N. Slappey Blvd. Other major areas labeled as 
“unserved” include Albany State University’s East and West Campuses, Albany Technical 
College, and the Dougherty County Jail. Industrial areas in east Albany are also 
designated as “unserved,” such as S. Mock Road, parcels on SR 19 across from the 
Procter & Gamble site, and in the undeveloped areas of southwest Albany (Albany’s 
Consolidated Plan 2021-2025). 

In Albany’s Five-Year Consolidated Plan 2021-2025, two major broadband service 
providers are serving Albany and Dougherty County. Albany residential customers are 
served by only a few internet service providers offering broadband via fiber, cable, 
ADSL, and satellite technologies. City of Albany’s Utility Services offers fiberoptic 
broadband limited to commercial customers.  For residential customers across the city, 
Mediacom Communications Corps is the main provider of broadband via cable 
technology. Fiber technology is also offered in some areas by AT&T, primarily in west 
Albany. Those limited areas served by AT&T (shaded in dark blue) are also eligible for 

98

Item 10b.



 
  

AT&T’s “Access from AT&T” program, which offers wireline home internet to 
households receiving SNAP benefits. However, not all services from the “Access to 
AT&T” program allow download speeds of 25Mbps. Across the city, FCC data indicates 
that many residents are limited to Mediacom as their sole provider for cable internet at 
broadband speeds. The maps showing Albany’s broadband service coverage are shown 
below.  

Dougherty County Demographics 

The total estimated population for Dougherty County was 87,955 based on U.S Census 
Bureau 2019. The median housing value and median households Income are $103,500 
and $39,545 respectively. Also, the total housing unit was $40,610 (U.S Census 2019).  
73.4% of households are with a broadband internet subscription in Dougherty County. 
There are four thousand two hundred and three (4,203) locations in unserved areas in 
the county which account for 8%. Also, forty-seven thousand seven hundred and 
ninety-six (47,776) locations are currently served based on the DCA broadband 
deployment initiative, 2021. 

The evolvement of Broadband technology presents an opportunity for the local 
governments to have larger coverage and access to high-speed and connectivity to the 
internet. Broadband is a crucial infrastructure in the 21st century. The map below 
shows underserved and served areas in Dougherty County and the City of Albany. 

 

Goal 

The primary goal is to make broadband services available in the entire County through 
collaboration with companies that provide broadband services. Also, ensure that 
broadband services meet the needs of the residents, businesses, schools, hospitals, and 
other organizations with prices that are affordable and give residents flexibility to make 
choices that meet their needs. 

 

Objective1:   Apply for grants for the provision of high-speed internet connectivity and    
accessibility 

Objective 2:  Review and amend the Land-use policies to accommodate broadband 
installation without jeopardizing the safety of the citizens and the 
environment.  

Objective 3: Develop a broadband ordinance that will control, guild, and providing 
broadband services. 

99

Item 10b.



 
 

 

100

Item 10b.



 
  

 

101

Item 10b.



 
  

 

102

Item 10b.



 
 

Dougherty County’s Coverage Map showing Served and Unserved Locations Broadband  

 103

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

Albany-Dougherty County

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

1
6

F
Y

 2
0

1
7

F
Y

 2
0

1
8

F
Y

 2
0

1
9

F
Y

 2
0

2
0

RESPONSIBLE 

PARTY
COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

STATUS: 

Completed, 

Underway, 

Postponed, 

Cancelled.

1 Greenspace Acquisition in the Flint River Greenway Corridor X X X X X County $400,000 SPLOST Completed

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

2
Update existing environmental ordinances in zoning 

ordinance
X X X X X

 Planning & 

Development
Staff Time Departmental Budget Postponed 

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

3
Develop and implement strategies to conserve farmland and 

forest land-preservation plan
X X X X X

Planning & 

Development
Staff Time Departmental Budget Postponed

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

4

Enhance and promote historic preservation programs 

(surveys, ordinances, assistance programs, community 

education and awareness)

X X X X X

Albany/Dougherty 

Historic Preservation 

Commission

Staff Time Departmental Budget Underway

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

5
Continue to support the local agriculture industry food 

sustainability/availability through on-going programs 
X X X X X

 Planning Dept., County 

Extension, Growing 

Food Connections

Staff Time Departmental Budget Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

6 Landfill improvements to expand capacity X County $1,000,000 SPLOST Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

7 Develop a Greenway Corridor Management Plan X X X X
 Planning & 

Development
Staff Time Departmental Budget Postponed

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

8 Central Mixed-Use District Master Plan (Downtown Plan) X
 Planning & 

Development
Staff Time Departmental Budget Completed

Plan Element: Land Use

9
East Riverfront Commercial District Transportation Study 

Development
X X X X X

 Planning & 

Development/DARTS
$40,000 DARTS Completed

Plan Element: Land Use

10
East Riverfront Commercial District Transportation Study 

Plan Implementation
X X X

 Planning & 

Development/DARTS
TBD TBD Underway

Plan Element: Land Use

Activity: Planned expansion complete. Future expansion work planned. Carry forward.Completed 2017-2018

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: East Broad Sidewalk Design & Construction authorized 20-R173

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

Completed: 2016 Activity: Completed by Planning staff for DDA

Completed 2016 Activity: Plan Completed

 CWP: Carry Forward 
Activity: Property Maintenance Courtesy Letters to Historic District,  2020 S & P Grant 

awarded for Harlem Revitalization Plan. Represents ongoing work of HPC.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: County received 2-yr grant in 2020, re-establish County Food Security Council.

REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS (FY2016 - 2020)

Completed: 2016-2018 Activity: Purchase of two tracts, and 2016 Planning Study

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Reconsider need with future update of Zoning Ordinance (CWP)

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Continue Zoning Ordinance of no new AG parcels under 40 acres.

Page 1 of 8
104

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

11 Dougherty Recreational Trails Master Plan Development X X
Planning & 

Development
$50,000 SPLOST Completed

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

12 Dougherty Recreational Trails Master Plan Implementation X X X X
Planning & 

Development
TBD

Grants, SPLOST, 

TSPLOST, Partnerships
Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

13 Downtown Parking Study X X DDA TBD TBD Completed

Plan Element: Economic Development &  Land Use

14 Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Update X DARTS $50,000 DARTS PL Funds Underway

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

15 Gillionville Road Corridor/Node Plan X X
 Planning & 

Development
$50,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DARTS
Postponed

Plan Element: Land Use

16 Radium Springs Rd @ Oakridge Commercial Node Plan X X
Planning & 

Development
$50,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DARTS
Postponed

Plan Element: Land Use

17 Liberty Expressway Corridor/Node Plan X X
Planning & 

Development
$70,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DARTS
Postponed

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

18 Sylvester Rd Corridor/Node Plan X X
 Planning & 

Development
$50,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DARTS
Postponed

Plan Element: Land Use

19 Dawson Rd Corridor/Redevelopment Plan X X
 Planning & 

Development
$75,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DARTS
Postponed

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

20 North Slappy Blvd. Corridor/Redevelopment Plan X X
Planning & 

Development
$75,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DARTS
Postponed

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

21
Housing Studies for neighborhoods identified on Special 

Areas Studies Map
X X X X

 Planning & 

Development/DCED
$100,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DCED
Postponed

Plan Element: Land Use

22 Albany Transportation Center X X X
Transportation Dept. 

(Transit Division)
$8,000,000 

Federal Grants (80%), 

Local (20%) 
Underway

Plan Element: Transportation  CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Pre-Construction completed, Construction phase underway.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Combine with 2021 CDBG-MIT Planning Project - Parcel & Structure Survey

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

 Completed 2016 Activity: Parking Study of Central Business District completed by consultant 

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Delayed by project reprioritization, PL Funds awarded 2021.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

Completed:2016 Activity: Flint River Trails network plan completed

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Several trail segments completed, funded, and in design

Page 2 of 8
105

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

23 New CNG Bus Purchase X
Transportation Dept. 

(Transit Division)
$2,800,000 

Federal Grants (80%), 

Local (20%)
Completed

Plan Element: Transportation

24 Passenger Boarding Bridge X X
Transportation Dept. 

(Airport Division)
$1,350,000 

Federal (75%), State 

(1%), Local (10%)
Completed

Plan Element: Transportation

25 New General Aviation Terminal & Hangers X X
Transportation Dept. 

(Airport Division)
$3,200,000 

Federal  (75%), State 

(5%), Local (20%)
Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

26 Main Runway Extension X X
Transportation Dept. 

(Airport Division)
$5,500,000 

Federal (75%), State 

(20%), Local (5%)
Completed

Plan Element: Transportation

27

To assist homeless persons with rental subsidies, payment 

of utility and security deposits, and the provision of case 

management.

X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$150,000 annually

HUD CDBG Funds                      

DCA ESG Funds
Underway

Plan Element: Housing

28
Rehabilitation of privately owned housing units within City 

through emergency repairs and homeowner rehabilitations.
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$200,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds
Underway

Plan Element: Housing

29 Rehabilitation of rental housing within City  X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$50,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds
Underway

Plan Element: Housing

30 Construction of affordable housing X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$100,000 annually HUD HOME Funds Underway

Plan Element: Housing

31 Acquisition of Housing X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$50,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds
Underway

Plan Element: Housing

32 Clearance/demolition/beautification X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$20,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Housing and Economic Development

33
Affordable housing development by Community Housing 

Development Organizations (CHDOs)
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$50,000 annually HUD HOME Funds Underway

Plan Element: Housing

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Pre Construction phase - building  located adjacent (north) of existing building.

Completed 2019-2020 Activity: Runway 4-22 and 16-34

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Completed 2015-2020 Activity: Completed conversion of fleet to CNG. Consider future rolling stock needs.

Completed Feb. 2020 Activity: Construction of Passenger Boarding Bridge complete.

Page 3 of 8
106

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

34 Direct financial assistance to first-time homebuyers X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$50,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds
Underway

Plan Element: Housing

35 Job training to very low income persons X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$10,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

36

Microenterprise business assistance through a business 

incubator to stimulate job creation/retention for low income 

persons

X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$100,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

37

Operation of a Capital Loan Program to provide funding for 

business development and expansion and to stimulate job 

creation/retention of low income persons

X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$100,000 annually

HUD CDBG & EDA 

Revolving Loan Funds
Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

38
Funding for public services to meet community priority 

needs
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$75,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development & Community 

Facilities & Services

39 Capacity building for nonprofits X X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$30,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

40
Housing Counseling (Pre, post, default, budgeting/financial 

literacy, foreclosure prevention, and loss mitigation)
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$30,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Housing

41 Broadway Senior Duplex Development Phase II X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$900,000 TBD Cancelled

Plan Element: Housing

42 Microbusiness Enterprise Center Rehab X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$150,000 Annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

43 Commercial Facades and Improvements X X X X
City of Albany DCED 

Consolidated Plan
$50,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds Underway

Plan Element: Economic Development

44 WPC - Daft (Diffused Air Flotation Thickener) Upgrade X Public Works $1.5 Million
Sanitary Sewer 

Enterprise Fund
Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Lack of Funds

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Delete Activity: No funds availability.

CWP: Carry Forward
Activity: In 2020, completed new HVAC management system, upgrade of front entrance 

doors, and upgrade of elevator controls. Additional work needed 

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Page 4 of 8
107

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

45 Westside Interceptor Sewer Rehab X                                                                                                                                Public Works $11 Million GEFA Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

46 Eastside Interceptor Sewer Rehab X Public Works $4 Million GEFA Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

47 Booker Avenue Sewer Rehab X Public Works $1 Million TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

48 Holloway Basin Drainage X X X Public Works $25 Million TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

49 Holloway-Mercer Storm Drainage Improvement Project X X X X X Engineering $7,900,000 TBD, GEFA Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

50 ISO Audit X X Albany Fire Dept. $28,000 Departmental Budget Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

51 ISO Acceditation X X X Albany Fire Dept. TBD Departmental Budget Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

52 Bill Miller Community Center X X Facilities $500,000 SPLOST VII Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

53 Henderson Gym X X Facilities $500,000 SPLOST VII Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

54 Carver Gym X X Facilities $500,000 SPLOST VII Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

55 GPS/GIS Infrastructure Mapping X X X X X Engineering $1,650,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

56 Eugene Lane Construction X X X Engineering $320,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

57 P25 Radio Project X X X X Public Safety $6,000,000 SPLOST VII Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

58 Albany Civil Rights Institute Building Improvements X X X X X
Albany Civil Rights 

Institute
$400,000 TBD Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

59 Alley Paving Program X X X X Engineering $3,750,000 SPLOST VI, VII, LMIG Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

60 Barkley Blvd. Extension Construction X X X Engineering $863,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Lack of funds

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: At least 13 sections paved toward this multi-year project

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Design phase, construction delayed in budget realignment 20-R139.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: multi-year project to complete data on entire infrastructure systems.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Construction postponed in Budget realignment 20-R139

Completed 2018-2020 Activity: P-25 Radio System Project and purchase of public safety radios

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Partial work at $37,600, Budget realignment 20-R139, Recreation Plan.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Budget realignment  20-R139 & Recreation Plan currently underway.

 CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Budget realignment  20-R139 &  Recreation Plan currently underway.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Reconsider project priority after comprehensive engineering studies & CSO Plan

Completed 2018 Activity: Completed

Completed 2018 Activity: Completed

Completed 2020 Activity: Project completed

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Designed, delayed during comprehensive engineering studies & CSO Plan.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Reconsider project priority after comprehensive engineering studies & CSO Plan

Completed 2021 Activity: Project completed

Page 5 of 8
108

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

61 3rd Ave. Storm Sewer Outfall X X X Engineering $5,000,000 SPLOST VII Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

62 N. Washington Street Extension Construction X X X X X Engineering $1,900,000 SPLOST VII Postponed

Plan Element: Transportation

63 Sanitary Sewer Extensions - Citywide X X X X X Engineering $15,140,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

64 Personal Protective Equipment X X X X X Albany Fire Dept. $1,070,000 SPLOST VII Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

65 City Paved Alley Reconstruction X Engineering $2,000,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

66 City Alley Crush Asphalt Reconstruction X X X X X Engineering $1,000,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

67 Railroad Crossing Improvements X X X X X Engineering $1,600,000 SPLOST VII & Railroads Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

68 Storm Pumping Stations/Minor Holding Ponds X X X X X Engineering $750,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

69 Aerial Truck Replacement X Albany Fire Dept. $3,450,000 SPLOST VII Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

70 Replacement of Fire Station #2 X X X X X Albany Fire Dept. $1,250,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

71 City Street Resurfacing X X Public Works $10,000,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

72 Mall Signal System Upgrade X X Engineering $3,610,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

73 LNAPL Remediation MGP Site X X X Engineering $2,060,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

74 City Sidewalks X X X X X Public Works $1,500,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

75 Renovation of Historic Water Works Building X X Engineering $1,725,000 TBD Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

76 Traffic Signal Upgrades X X X X X Engineering $1,080,000 TSPLOST, GDOT Underway

Plan Element: Transportation CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year Project 

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Disaster recovery work reprioritized staff resources.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: multi-year project for rehabilitation and maintenance

Completed 2017-2018 Activity:

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Planning phase, including location selection.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Completed Phase I & II of 7-year Project

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year project

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Completed 8 of 15 crossings identified in multi-year project.

CWP: Carry Forward 
Activity: Install pumping infrastructure to accommodate temporary pumping operations for 

stormwater at minor holding ponds.

Completed Purchased in 2019

Completed Activity: Purchased turn-out gear, safety equipment

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Design phase for multi-year project

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Completed about 35% of multi-year project for 75 unpaved alley sections.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Reconsider project priority after comprehensive engineering studies & CSO Plan

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Requires city agreement to close rail crossings at 3rd and 7th Ave.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year Project. Completed Shadowlawn Dr. area.

Page 6 of 8
109

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

77 Magnolia St. Sidewalk Construction - Gillionville to Dawson X Engineering $515,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Transportation 

78 Palmyra Rd. Sidewalk - N. Monroe & N. Slappey X Engineering $825,000 SPLOST VII Completed

Plan Element: Transportation

79 Traffic Calming X X X X X Engineering $500,000 TSPLOST Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

80 Dawson Rd. Sidewalk - N. Slappey to Pointe North X Engineering $1,810,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Transportation

81 Message Boards - Road Construction, etc. X X X Engineering $100,000 TBD Completed

Plan Element: Transportation

82 Sign Upgrades-Federally Mandated High Intensity Prismatic X X Engineering $500,000 TBD Completed

Plan Element: Transportation

83 Washington St & Jackson St. 2-Way conversion X X Engineering $3,375,000 TBD Cancelled

Plan Element: Transportation

84
Meter Data Transport (ATI - Advanced Metering 

Infrastructure)
X X X X X Energy Control $18,500,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

85 Gas Infrastructure Expansions X X X X X Gas Department $1,750,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

86 Substation Upgrades X X X X X Light Department $1,500,000 TBD Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

87 Citywide WiFi Additional Ring X X X X X Telecom $1,500,000 TBD Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

88 SCADA System Control & Data Acquisition System X X X X X Energy Control $250,000 SPLOST VII Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

89 Upgrade Street Light to Light Emitting Diode (LED) X X X X X Light Department $6,750,000 SPLOST VII, MEAG Completed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

90 Underground Electrical Cable Replacement X X X X X Light Department $18,750,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

91 Water Infrastructure Upgrades X X X X X Water Department $600,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

92 Well #9 Rehabilitation X numbers Water Department $110,000 TBD Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

93 Well #13 Rehabilitation X Water Department $145,000 TBD Postponed

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year Renovations

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Other wells prioritized for repair

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Other wells prioritized for repair

Completed 2020 Activity:

Completed Activity: Completed 2017-2019

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year Project, 40% complete

CWP: Carry Forward Work performed 2015-2019 on multi-year project.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year Projects

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Completing feasibility study

Completed 2019-2020 Activity:

CWP: Delete Activity: Proposal no longer desired at this time.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Seven-year Project with full deplayment 2021-2022.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Ongoing project, as requested and warranted by neighborhoods.

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Design Phase and Construction authorized 20-R173.

Completed Activity:

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Design Phase and Construction authorized 20-R173.

CWP: 2019 Activity: Construction by  contractor

Page 7 of 8
110

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Report of Accomplishments FY 2016 to FY 2020

94 IT Network Infrastructure X X X X
Information 

Technology
$1,553,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

95 IT Network Software X
Information 

Technology
$4,000,000 SPLOST VII Underway

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year project

CWP: Carry Forward Activity: Multi-year project

Page 8 of 8
111

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Community Work Program FY 2021-FY 2025

Albany-Dougherty County

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

2
1

F
Y

 2
0

2
2

F
Y

 2
0

2
3

F
Y

 2
0

2
4

F
Y

 2
0

2
5

RESPONSIBLE PARTY COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

1 Greenspace Acquisition in the Flint River Greenway Corridor X X X X X City or County TDB
Grants or Future 

SPLOST

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Facilities

N Implementation of Radium Springs Improvement Plan X X X X X
Dougherty County Dept. of Natural 

Resources
$3,000,000 

SPLOST VII, TSPLOST, 

Grants, Gen. Funds

Plan Element: Community Facilities and Transportation

2
Update existing environmental ordinances as part of zoning ordinance 

review/update
X X  Planning & Development Staff Time Departmental Budget

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

3
Develop and implement strategies to conserve farmland and forest land-

preservation plan
X X X X X Planning & Development Staff Time Departmental Budget

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

4
Enhance and promote historic preservation programs (surveys, 

ordinances, assistance programs, community education and awareness)
X X X X X

Albany/Dougherty Historic 

Preservation Commission
Staff Time Departmental Budget

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

N Harlem Area Revitalization Plan X X

Albany/Dougherty Historic 

Preservation Commission & 

Planning Staff

$35,000 

Historic Presevation 

Fund Survey & 

Planning Grant

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

N Implement Recommendations of Harlem Area Revitalization Plan X X X X

Albany/Dougherty Historic 

Preservation Commission, Planning 

Dept., DCED

$1,000,000 Grants

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

5
Continue to support the local agriculture industry food 

sustainability/availability through on-going programs 
X X X X X

 Planning Dept., County Extension, 

Growing Food Connections
Staff Time Departmental Budget

Plan Element: Economic Development

N
Continue Food Connections Project with Flint River Fresh and Food 

Council
X X X X X

Planning, Dougherty County, Food 

Council
Staff Time

Grant Funds and 

Departmental Budget

Plan Element: Economic Development

6 Landfill improvements to expand capacity X X County $1,000,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

7 Develop a Greenway Corridor Management Plan X X  Planning & Development Staff Time Departmental Budget

Plan Element: Natural and Cultural Resources

COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAM (FY2021 - 2025)

Page 1 of 6
112

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Community Work Program FY 2021-FY 2025

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

2
1

F
Y

 2
0

2
2

F
Y

 2
0

2
3

F
Y

 2
0

2
4

F
Y

 2
0

2
5

RESPONSIBLE PARTY COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

N Conduct Freight Study X X DARTS $50,000 DARTS PL Funds

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

N Update DARTS Metropolitan Transportation Plan X X DARTS $100,000 DARTS PL Funds

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

N Conduct Oglethorpe Blvd. Corridor Study X X DARTS $50,000 DARTS PL Funds

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

10
East Riverfront Commercial District Transportation Study Plan 

Implementation
X X X  Planning & Development/DARTS TBD TBD

Plan Element: Land Use

12 Dougherty Recreational Trails Master Plan Implementation X X X X X Planning & Development TBD
Grants, SPLOST, 

TSPLOST, Partnerships

Plan Element: Transportation

14 Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Update X X DARTS $50,000 DARTS PL Funds

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

15 Gillionville Road Corridor/Node Plan X X  Planning & Development $50,000 
Departmental 

Budget/DARTS

Plan Element: Land Use

16 Radium Springs Rd @ Oakridge Commercial Node Plan X X Planning & Development $50,000 
Departmental 

Budget/DARTS

Plan Element: Land Use

17 Liberty Expressway Corridor/Node Plan X X Planning & Development $70,000 
Departmental 

Budget/DARTS

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

18 Sylvester Rd Corridor/Node Plan X X  Planning & Development $50,000 
Departmental 

Budget/DARTS

Plan Element: Land Use

19 Dawson Rd Corridor/Redevelopment Plan X X  Planning & Development $75,000 
Departmental 

Budget/DARTS

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

20 North Slappy Blvd. Corridor/Redevelopment Plan X X Planning & Development $75,000 
Departmental 

Budget/DARTS

Plan Element: Transportation and Land Use

21
Housing Studies for neighborhoods identified on Special Areas Studies 

Map
X X X X X  Planning & Development/DCED $100,000 

Departmental 

Budget/DCED

Plan Element: Land Use

22 Albany Transportation Center X X X
Transportation Dept. (Transit 

Division)
$8,000,000 

Federal Grants (80%), 

Local (20%) 

Plan Element: Transportation

Page 2 of 6
113

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Community Work Program FY 2021-FY 2025

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

2
1

F
Y

 2
0

2
2

F
Y

 2
0

2
3

F
Y

 2
0

2
4

F
Y

 2
0

2
5

RESPONSIBLE PARTY COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

25 New General Aviation Terminal & Hangers X X X
Transportation Dept. (Airport 

Division)
$3,200,000 

Federal  (75%), State 

(5%), Local (20%)

Plan Element: Transportation

27
To assist homeless persons with rental subsidies, payment of utility and 

security deposits, and the provision of case management.
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$150,000 annually

HUD CDBG Funds                      

DCA ESG Funds

Plan Element: Housing

28
Rehabilitation of privately owned housing units within City through 

emergency repairs and homeowner rehabilitations.
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$200,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds

Plan Element: Housing

29 Rehabilitation of rental housing within City  X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$50,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds

Plan Element: Housing

30 Construction of affordable housing X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$100,000 annually HUD HOME Funds

Plan Element: Housing

31 Acquisition of Housing X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$50,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds

Plan Element: Housing

32 Clearance/demolition/beautification X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$20,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Housing and Economic Development

33
Affordable housing development by Community Housing Development 

Organizations (CHDOs)
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$50,000 annually HUD HOME Funds

Plan Element: Housing

34 Direct financial assistance to first-time homebuyers X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$50,000 annually

HUD CDBG and HOME 

Funds

Plan Element: Housing

35 Job training to very low income persons X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$10,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development

36
Microenterprise business assistance through a business incubator to 

stimulate job creation/retention for low income persons
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$100,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Page 3 of 6
114

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Community Work Program FY 2021-FY 2025

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

2
1

F
Y

 2
0

2
2

F
Y

 2
0

2
3

F
Y

 2
0

2
4

F
Y

 2
0

2
5

RESPONSIBLE PARTY COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

37

Operation of a Capital Loan Program to provide funding for business 

development and expansion and to stimulate job creation/retention of 

low income persons

X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$100,000 annually

HUD CDBG & EDA 

Revolving Loan Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development

38 Funding for public services to meet community priority needs X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$75,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development & Community Facilities & 

Services

39 Capacity building for nonprofits X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$30,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development

40
Housing Counseling (Pre, post, default, budgeting/financial literacy, 

foreclosure prevention, and loss mitigation)
X X X X X

City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$30,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Housing

42 Microbusiness Enterprise Center Rehab X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$150,000 Annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development

43 Commercial Facades and Improvements X X X X X
City of Albany DCED Consolidated 

Plan
$50,000 annually HUD CDBG Funds

Plan Element: Economic Development

44 WPC - Daft (Diffused Air Flotation Thickener) Upgrade X Public Works $1.5 Million
Sanitary Sewer 

Enterprise Fund

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

47 Booker Avenue Sewer Rehab X Public Works $1 Million TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

48 Holloway Basin Drainage X X X Public Works $25 Million TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

49 Holloway-Mercer Storm Drainage Improvement Project X X X X X Engineering $7,900,000 TBD, GEFA

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

52 Bill Miller Community Center X X Facilities $500,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

53 Henderson Gym X X Facilities $500,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

54 Carver Gym X X Facilities $500,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

55 GPS/GIS Infrastructure Mapping X X X X X Engineering $1,650,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

56 Eugene Lane Construction X X X Engineering $320,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Activity detailed in Annual Action Plan, and reported in Annual CAPER.

Page 4 of 6
115

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Community Work Program FY 2021-FY 2025

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

2
1

F
Y

 2
0

2
2

F
Y

 2
0

2
3

F
Y

 2
0

2
4

F
Y

 2
0

2
5

RESPONSIBLE PARTY COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

58 Albany Civil Rights Institute Building Improvements X X X X X Albany Civil Rights Institute $400,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

59 Alley Paving Program X X X X Engineering $3,750,000 SPLOST VI, VII, LMIG

Plan Element: Transportation

60 Barkley Blvd. Extension Construction X X X Engineering $863,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation

N Sandy Bottom Circuit Utility Conversion Project X X X X X Engineering $10,000 
US EDC Grant, SPLOST 

VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

N Implementation of Combined Sewer Overflow Plan X X X X X Engineering & Utility $25,000,000 
SPLOST VII, Grants, 

Enterprise Funds

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

N Sewer & Stormwater Improvements 8th Ave. Drainage Basin X X X Engineering $3,900,000 CDBG-DR Grant Funds

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

61 3rd Ave. Storm Sewer Outfall X X X Engineering $5,000,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

62 N. Washington Street Extension Construction X X X X X Engineering $1,900,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation

63 Sanitary Sewer Extensions - Citywide X X X X X Engineering $15,140,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

65 City Paved Alley Reconstruction X Engineering $2,000,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation

66 City Alley Crush Asphalt Reconstruction X X X X X Engineering $1,000,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation

67 Railroad Crossing Improvements X X X X X Engineering $1,600,000 SPLOST VII & Railroads

Plan Element: Transportation

68 Storm Pumping Stations/Minor Holding Ponds X X X X X Engineering $750,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

70 Replacement of Fire Station #2 X X X X X Albany Fire Dept. $1,250,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

71 City Street Resurfacing X X Public Works $10,000,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation

72 Mall Signal System Upgrade X X Engineering $3,610,000 TBD

Plan Element: Transportation

Page 5 of 6
116

Item 10b.



August 9, 2021 DRAFT Community Work Program FY 2021-FY 2025

WORK ITEM

F
Y

 2
0

2
1

F
Y

 2
0

2
2

F
Y

 2
0

2
3

F
Y

 2
0

2
4

F
Y

 2
0

2
5

RESPONSIBLE PARTY COST ESTIMATE FUNDING SOURCE

73 LNAPL Remediation MGP Site X X X Engineering $2,060,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

N Brownfield Revolving Loan Fund X X X X X Planning Dept. $500,000 EPA

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

N Broadband Plan and Implementation X X X X X TAC, Planning $4,000,000 Fed. & State Grants

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

74 City Sidewalks X X X X X Public Works $1,500,000 TBD

Plan Element: Transportation

76 Traffic Signal Upgrades X X X X X Engineering $1,080,000 TSPLOST, GDOT

Plan Element: Transportation

77 Magnolia St. Sidewalk Construction - Gillionville to Dawson X Engineering $515,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Transportation 

79 Traffic Calming X X X X X Engineering $500,000 TSPLOST

Plan Element: Transportation

80 Dawson Rd. Sidewalk - N. Slappey to Pointe North X Engineering $1,810,000 TBD

Plan Element: Transportation

84 Meter Data Transport (ATI - Advanced Metering Infrastructure) X X X X X Energy Control $18,500,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

85 Gas Infrastructure Expansions X X X X X Gas Department $1,750,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

86 Substation Upgrades X X X X X Light Department $1,500,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

87 Citywide WiFi Additional Ring X X X X X Telecom $1,500,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

90 Underground Electrical Cable Replacement X X X X X Light Department $18,750,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

91 Water Infrastructure Upgrades X X X X X Water Department $600,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

92 Well #9 Rehabilitation X X Water Department $110,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

93 Well #13 Rehabilitation X X Water Department $145,000 TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

N Additional Well Rehabilitations X X X X Water Department TBD TBD

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

94 IT Network Infrastructure X X X X X Information Technology $1,553,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

95 IT Network Software X X X X X Information Technology $4,000,000 SPLOST VII

Plan Element: Community Facilities & Services

Page 6 of 6
117

Item 10b.



A RESOLUTION 
ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE APPROVAL OF A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE DOUGHERTY 
COUNTY SOLAR ORDINANCE (TITLE III, ARTICLE 1. SECTION 1.44.III. DEFINITIONS; VII. SPECIFIC 

REQUIREMENTS FOR SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (A) I, AND VIII SOLAR FACILITIES (E); 
REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN  

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby desirous 
of approving a proposed text amendment to the Dougherty County Solar Ordinance (TITLE III, 
ARTICLE 1. Section 1.44. III Definitions, VII. Specific Requirements for Solar Energy Systems (A)I, 
and VIII Solar Facilities (E)). 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 
Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 
 
 SECTION I    The attached proposed text amendment to the Dougherty County Solar 
Ordinance (TITLE III, ARTICLE 1. Section 1.44. III Definitions, VII. Specific Requirements for Solar 
Energy Systems (A)I, and VIII Solar Facilities (E)) is hereby approved and the Dougherty County 
Clerk is authorized to forward a copy of the amendment to Municipal Code Corporation for 
insertion into the Dougherty County Code of Ordinances.   
 
 SECTION II   All sections or parts of sections of the Dougherty County Code of Ordinances 
in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 
 
 This the 16th day of August, 2021. 
 
       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
       BY:___________________________ 
            Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
County Clerk  

 

118

Item 10f.



119

Item 10g.



A RESOLUTION 
ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR A TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON WIND ENERGY 
GENERATION FACILITIES, OTHERWISE KNOWN AS WIND FARMS UNTIL A STUDY CAN BE 
CONDUCTED AND AN ORDINANCE DEVELOPED TO REGULATE THE PLACEMENT OF SUCH 
FACILITIES APPROPRIATELY; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN  

CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is desirous of 
providing for a temporary moratorium on wind energy generation facilities, otherwise known as 
wind farms until a study can be conducted and an ordinance developed to regulate the placement 
of such facilities. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 
Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 
 
 SECTION I    The attached temporary moratorium on wind energy generation facilities, 
otherwise known as wind farms, is hereby approved and becomes effective on the date of the 
passage of this Resolution.   
 
 SECTION II   All sections or parts of sections of the Dougherty County Code of Ordinances 
in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 
 
 This the 16th day of August, 2021. 
 
       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 
       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
       BY:___________________________ 
            Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
County Clerk  

 

 

120

Item 10h.


	Top
	Item 5a.	Minutes
	2021.07.19 Minutes Regular
	2021.07.26 Minutes Work

	Item 7a.	Delegation a_Tax Sale
	2021.08.16 Delegation a_Tax Sale Update

	Item 8a.	Zoning a_Teramore
	Zoning a_Recap (Teramore)
	Zoning a_Staff Report (Teramore)

	Item 8b.	Zoning b_Clark
	Zoning b_Recap (B Clark)
	Zoning b_Staff Report (B Clark)

	Item 8c.	Zoning c_Metro Site
	Zoning c_Recap (Metro Site)
	Zoning c_Staff Report (Metro Site)
	Zoning c_Partial site plan (Metro Site)

	Item 8d.	Zoning d_Solar Ordinance
	Zoning d_ Recap (County Solar Ordinance)
	Zoning d_ Staff Report (County Solar Ordinance)

	Item 9a.	Purchase a_Fleming Road
	Purchase a_Fleming Road

	Item 9b.	Purchase b_Sirens
	Purchase b_Sirens

	Item 10a.	Other a_Tax Adoption
	Other a_Tax Documents

	Item 10b.	Other b_Comprehensive Plan
	Other b_Plan Update

	Item 10f.	Other f_Text Amendment
	other f_Text Amendment to Do Co Solar Ordinance Resolution

	Item 10g.	other g_ARPA
	other g_ARPA

	Item 10h.	Other h_Moratorium
	Other h_Moratorium

	Bottom

